THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001112

---

South Carolina Lottery Commission,.....Respondent,

v.

George S. Glassmeyer,.....Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Andrew S. Radeker  
S.C. Bar No. 73743  
Taylor M. Smith IV  
S.C. Bar No. 101584  
Harrison & Radeker, P.A.  
Post Office Box 50143  
Columbia, South Carolina 29250  
(803) 779-2211  
Attorneys for Appellant

**RECEIVED**

NOV 22 2016

**SC Court of Appeals**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. **Did the circuit court err in rendering a judgment that did away with Appellant's counterclaims without ever having had a trial on them or hearing any motion directed at them and without analysis of those claims?**
- II. **Did the circuit court err in entering judgment on the pleadings against Appellant on the basis of so-called facts that were neither admitted nor alleged by Appellant in his answer and counterclaim?**
- III. **Did the circuit court err in rendering judgment on the pleadings for the Respondent on its declaratory judgment claim about whether information is exempt from disclosure under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act where the Respondent's own complaint showed the Respondent is a government public body, not a citizen, and has no standing to bring such a claim?**
- IV. **Did the circuit court err in rendering judgment on the pleadings for the Respondent on its claim seeking an injunction to prevent Appellant from seeking information where the Respondent's own complaint showed the Respondent has no standing to bring such a claim?**
- V. **Did the circuit court err in failing to dismiss the Respondent's declaratory judgment claim about whether information is exempt from disclosure under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act where the Respondent's own complaint showed the Respondent is a government public body, not a citizen, and has no standing to bring such a claim?**
- VI. **Did the circuit court err in failing to dismiss the Respondent's claim seeking an injunction to prevent Appellant from seeking information where the Respondent's own complaint showed the Respondent has no standing to bring such a claim?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case in which the Respondent, the South Carolina Lottery Commission (hereinafter “the Lottery Commission”), a public body, sued Appellant, George S. Glassmeyer (hereinafter “Glassmeyer”), a citizen of South Carolina, seeking a declaration that certain information Glassmeyer had sought through two requests made under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-10, *et seq.*, (hereinafter “FOIA”) is exempt from mandatory disclosure under FOIA and requesting the issuance of a permanent injunction preventing Glassmeyer from seeking to obtain that information. (R. pp. 20-28.) The information concerned lottery winners who claimed prizes of or over a million dollars over a period of time, including their full names, addresses, telephone numbers, and forms of identification that they presented to the Lottery Commission to claim their lottery prizes. (R. pp. 21, 34.)

The Lottery Commission also sought an award of attorney’s fees against Glassmeyer. (R. p. 28.)

Glassmeyer answered, denying that the Lottery Commission was entitled to any relief and asserting various defenses, among them that he was entitled to the dismissal of the Lottery Commission’s claims for failure of the complaint to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. (R. pp. 148-62.) Glassmeyer also pled counterclaims against the Lottery Commission, seeking a declaration that the Lottery Commission had violated FOIA, seeking an order directing the Lottery Commission to comply with FOIA with regard to his requests, and asserting a claim against the Lottery Commission for abuse of process. (R. pp. 156-58.) Glassmeyer’s answer and counterclaim attached “a copy of a South Carolina Education Lottery Winner Claim Form that was authored

by and is (or at least at times material to this case was) used by the Lottery Commission for lottery winners to submit claims to the Lottery Commission.” (R. pp. 155, 160-61.) The answer and counterclaim states that the “form specifically states that the information the lottery winner provides on the form may be subject to disclosure under FOIA[,]” and the form indeed states that. (R. pp. 156-60.) The information the form requires to be disclosed on it includes the information sought by Glassmeyer in his FOIA requests involved in this case. (R. p. 160.) The answer and counterclaim states that “if the information sought by the Defendant concerning the lottery winners at issue had at one time been private information exempt from disclosure under FOIA (which the Defendant denies), the lottery winners made that information not be in that category any more once they submitted the information on this form or one containing or accompanied by a similar disclosure.” (R. p. 156.) The answer and counterclaim states that the “lottery winners knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily relinquished any ability they may have had to claim that the subject information about them was exempt from disclosure under FOIA.” (R. p. 156.) The attached Lottery Commission form states that a claimant who submits it releases the Lottery Commission from liability for disclosure of information about the claimant. (R. p. 160.)

Glassmeyer made written motions to dismiss and to strike the Lottery Commission’s prayer for attorneys’ fees. (R. pp. 165-70.) Those motions were denied by the Honorable Robert E. Hood. (R. p. 16.)

The case was set for a non-jury trial on December 5, 2014, before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. Glassmeyer submitted a memorandum concerning the issues in the case. (R. pp. 236-53.) Before trial began, the Lottery Commission made an oral motion

for judgment on the pleadings. (R. p. 218 ln. 5-7.) The Lottery Commission clarified that it sought declaratory relief under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-10, *et seq.*, rather than under FOIA, as its complaint indicated. (R. p. 27, p. 213 ln. 2-4.) Glassmeyer made an oral motion to dismiss the Lottery Commission's claims. (R. p. 218 ln. 20-21.) Glassmeyer also made an oral motion to strike the Lottery Commission's prayer for attorney's fees. (R. p. 226 ln. 16-18.) The transcript of the hearing shows that the Lottery Commission, after some apparent initial confusion, limited its motion for judgment on the pleadings to only its own claims, not Glassmeyer's counterclaims. (R. p. 229 ln. 8 through p. 230 ln. 1.) The Lottery Commission's counsel stated to the court that "our motion for judgment on the pleadings on – is as to our case in chief. It's not to his counterclaim." (R. p. 229 ln. 24 through p. 230 ln. 1.) No one made any motion of any sort directed at Glassmeyer's counterclaims.

Those motions were all that were heard that day. (R. p. 235 ln. 12-18.) The court took a break, stating "I want to try to think whether I just want to resolve this issue before we go forward or not" and "I don't know whether I want to hear your testimony today . . . I may just take what I have, make a decision on the legal issues and come back later if I have to." (R. p. 235 ln. 12-18.) No trial was held that day or any day in this case. No party ever presented any evidence.

On November 17, 2015, the court filed an order granting the Lottery Commission the declaratory and injunctive relief it sought. (R. pp. 11-12.) The circuit court "ORDERED that [Glassmeyer] is PERMANENTLY restrained and enjoined from seeking to obtain the (1) full names; (2) addresses; (3) telephone numbers; and

(4) forms of identification of all lottery winners and claimants.” (R. p. 12.) The order states that it “concludes the above-captioned lawsuit[.]” (R. p. 12.)

The order did not address Glassmeyer’s motions to dismiss and strike, and it did not address Glassmeyer’s counterclaims. (R. pp. 1-12.) It did not discuss the procedural posture that led to it being granted at all. (R. pp. 1-12.) The order found as facts things that Glassmeyer neither stated in his answer and counterclaim nor admitted in response to the Lottery Commission’s complaint. (R. pp. 1-12, 20-161.)

Glassmeyer moved to reconsider. (R. pp. 171-207.) The court denied his motion to reconsider by order filed May 17, 2016, stating that “[t]he Court properly ruled on Plaintiff’s motion for judgment on the pleadings by granting judgment in Plaintiff’s favor. Moreover, the Court properly denied the Defendant’s motion to dismiss, and properly granted his motion to strike the Plaintiff’s request for attorney’s fees.”<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 13, 15.)

This appeal followed.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Glassmeyer sent FOIA requests to the Lottery Commission seeking information concerning lottery winners who claimed prizes of or over a million dollars over a period of time, including their names, addresses, telephone numbers, the dates and gross amounts of their claims, and forms of identification that they presented to the Lottery Commission to claim their prizes. (R. p. 21.) The Lottery Commission, in response, adopted a new policy regarding responses to FOIA requests and, apparently, chose to

---

<sup>1</sup> While the November 17, 2015, order did not state that it ruled on Glassmeyer’s motions at all, Glassmeyer notes that the Lottery Commission has not appealed Judge Manning’s ruling that Glassmeyer’s motion to strike the Lottery Commission’s prayer for attorney’s fees has been granted.

avoid compliance with Glassmeyer's FOIA requests as much as the Lottery Commission believed it could get away with doing. (R. pp. 21-24, 30-38.)

The Lottery Commission withheld a great deal of the information Glassmeyer requested. (R. pp. 34-38.) For some of the lottery winners at issue, the Lottery Commission provided Glassmeyer with the gross dollar amount of their claims, the dates of their claims, their home towns and states of residence, and the name of the lottery games they won. (R. pp. 34-38.) More than 15 days after Glassmeyer's request, the Lottery Commission provided him the same information for other lottery winners who fell within the scope of his request. (R. pp. 37-38.) The Lottery Commission decided it would not disclose the lottery winners' names, addresses, telephone numbers, and forms of identification to Glassmeyer. (R. pp. 23-24, 34-36.)

The Lottery Commission also sent letters to the lottery winners inviting them to sue the Lottery Commission (but not Glassmeyer) to attempt to prevent disclosure of information regarding them. (R. pp. 24, 31, 40, 45-51, 150-51.) Some lottery winners did so, though they did not name Glassmeyer, whose right to receive the information under FOIA was what was at issue, a party to those suits. (R. pp. 53-147, 150-51, 158.) The Lottery Commission consented to a permanent injunction against itself in one of those suits, and that injunction was ordered, by the same judge whose order is the subject of this appeal, largely as a result of the Lottery Commission's complicity and failure to defend the suit. (R. pp. 83-94, 132-47, 150-51.) The Lottery Commission wanted the plaintiffs in any such suits to win them. (R. pp. 150-51, 158.) To call those suits sham proceedings is charitable. (R. pp. 24, 31, 40, 45-51, 53-151, 158.)

Glassmeyer notified the Lottery Commission that he did not believe that the Lottery Commission's responses complied with FOIA. (R. pp. 24, 41.) He then made a FOIA request seeking only the names of the lottery winners who claimed prizes of a million dollars or more. (R. pp. 24, 41.) The Lottery Commission did not respond to that request at all. (R. pp. 24, 150.)

Instead, the Lottery Commission sued Glassmeyer for making FOIA requests. (R. pp. 20-28.) It sought declaratory relief that it did not have to respond to Glassmeyer's FOIA requests and a permanent injunction to prevent Glassmeyer from asking for such information. (R. pp. 27-28.) It sought to have Glassmeyer be ordered to pay the Lottery Commission's attorney's fees incurred in suing him because he asked the Lottery Commission for some information. (R. pp. 28.)

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Rule 12(c), SCRCF, provides for a judgment on the pleadings in a proper case. The standard of whether such a motion should be granted is the same as for a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, and the appellate court applies the same standard to the review of an order granting such a motion. See Russell v. City of Columbia, 305 S.C. 86, 406 S.E.2d 338 (1991); Falk v. Sadler, 341 S.C. 281, 533 S.E.2d 350 (Ct. App. 2000); Fireman's Ins. Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 302 S.C. 234, 394 S.E.2d 855 (Ct. App. 1990). In deciding a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the trial court may not consider matters outside the allegations of the pleadings. Falk, 341 S.C. at 281; Firemen's Ins. Co., 302 S.C. at 234.

The ruling on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF – and, thus, also on a motion for judgment on the pleadings – for failure to state facts sufficient to

constitute a cause of action must be based solely upon the allegations set forth in the complaint. Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). Where the factual allegations of a complaint do not entitle a plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case, a 12(b)(6) motion is properly granted. Id. In deciding a 12(b)(6) motion, a court deems all of the complaint's well pleaded factual allegations as true for the purposes of deciding the motion; however, conclusions of law and other summary, conclusory allegations stated in the complaint are not deemed admitted for the motion's purposes. See Fields v. The Melrose Ltd. Partnership, 312 S.C. 102, 104, 439 S.E.2d 283, 284 (Ct. App. 1993); Carolina Winds Owners Ass'n. v. Joe Harden Builder, 297 S.C. 73, 76, 374 S.E.2d 897, 899 (Ct. App. 1988).

Similarly, "[a] motion to dismiss a counterclaim must be based solely on the allegations set forth in the counterclaim." Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. Laidlaw Transit, Inc., 348 S.C. 420, 559 S.E.2d 362 (Ct. App. 2001). "A Rule 12(b)(6) motion may not be sustained if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the [complainant] to any relief on any theory of the case." Stiles, 318 S.C. at 300. The question is whether in the light most favorable to the defendant asserting the counterclaim, and with every doubt resolved on his behalf, the counterclaim states any valid claim for relief. Toussaint v. Ham, 292 S.C. 415, 416, 357 S.E.2d 8, 9 (1987). The counterclaim should not be dismissed merely because the trial court doubts the counterclaiming defendant will prevail in the action. Id.

### **ARGUMENT**

To say that the court's order is procedurally incorrect is an understatement, to say the least. What is more, the order is frightening in the implications of its substance.

It granted a declaratory judgment to a government body in a suit that body brought simply because a citizen requested some information under FOIA, even though FOIA permits only a citizen of South Carolina to bring such a suit. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100(a). It granted an injunction against a citizen that is shockingly broad, an injunction to which the Lottery Commission was not entitled and which serves no lawful purpose. Indeed, the injunction issued does not even serve the purposes for which the order states it was granted.

A legal principle to keep in mind in reviewing the substantive result reached in this case is that information covered by the exemptions from mandatory disclosure listed in S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-40 are the *only* things that that a public body is permitted to withhold in response to a FOIA request. There are no other exemptions. What may be the worst thing *substantively* about the order is that it would permit a public body to *permanently* keep a citizen from even seeking information that is plainly outside the scope of any exemption to disclosure under FOIA. (R. pp. 11-12.)

A legal principle to keep in mind in reviewing the process by which the lower court reached its result in this case is that, on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the court views the pleadings in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and must accept as true the factual allegations of the non-movant's pleading. See Russell, 305 S.C. 86; Falk, 341 S.C. 281; Fireman's Ins., 302 S.C. 234. Further, no motion directed at Glassmeyer's counterclaims was before the court *at all*. (R. pp. 212-35.) What may be the worst two things *procedurally* about the order is that it has the effect of ruling against Glassmeyer on his counterclaims, without a trial, 1) not on the basis

of what he pled and 2) where no motion seeking judgment against Glassmeyer on his claims was before the court. (R. pp. 1-12, 212-35.)

**I. A summary list of problems with the order reveals deep flaws in the circuit court's decision.**

- 1) All the Lottery Commission sought at the time was a motion for judgment on the pleadings, which was not directed at Glassmeyer's counterclaims, yet the order makes findings of fact as to things that Glassmeyer did not admit in his answer and counterclaim. (R. pp. 1-12.) Further, given the procedural posture of the case and the motions that were before the circuit court, the only result that could have been reached lawfully within those constraints was one that left Glassmeyer's counterclaims pending.
- 2) The order speaks of evidence and the failure to offer evidence, when each party's motions were the sort that had to assume the truth of the facts alleged by the other party and on which it would have been improper to offer evidence. See Russell, 305 S.C. 86; Falk, 341 S.C. 281; Fireman's Ins., 302 S.C. 234.
- 3) The order makes numerous assertions of fact that, even if they could possibly be determined to be true as a matter of fact after a trial, were not alleged or admitted by Glassmeyer and are certainly not true *as a matter of law*. (R. pp. 4-11.)
- 4) The circuit court made a number of blanket statements as findings and conclusions that are either overbroad, erroneous, or both. Among them are:
  - a. The order states that Glassmeyer submitted "a long line of FOIA requests" to the Lottery Commission (R. p. 1); however, Glassmeyer submitted three FOIA requests to the Lottery Commission in this case.

(R. pp. 21, 24.) Three of something is not a long line; it is barely a line at all. The order tries to paint Glassmeyer as though he had engaged in abusive conduct in making FOIA requests of the Lottery Commission, but there is nothing in the record to indicate that he did. (R. pp. 1-12.)

- b. “The release of a claimant’s personal identifying information will result in an unreasonable invasion of a claimant’s personal privacy. The release of such personal identifying information is not required by and would not further the purpose of the FOIA.” That is not true, and it is certainly not true as a matter of law. (R. p. 5.)
- c. “An individual’s personal identifying information has nothing to do with the government operating in secret.” (R. p. 5.) Really? Never? Categorically? Is the circuit court saying there can never be any overlap between information that tends to identify someone and information that tends to indicate whether government is operating in secret? That is not true, and it is certainly not true as a matter of law.
- d. “A lottery claimant’s identity as the recipient of those winnings does not pertain to government activity in secret and involves personal privacy and personal identifying information.” (R. p. 5.) Is the circuit court saying there can never be any overlap between information that tends to identify someone as a lottery winner and information that tends to indicate whether government is operating in secret (as there would be if a lottery result were rigged)? That is not true, and it is certainly not true as a matter of law. Further, just because some information merely

implicates personal privacy or personal identifying information does not make it exempt from disclosure under FOIA. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-40.

- e. “Disclosure of claimants’ personal identifying information would invade the privacy of the claimants and their families, subject claimants and their families to unreasonable publicity, expose claimants and their families to threats against their safety, and otherwise be an unreasonable intrusion into the life and daily affairs of claimants.” (R. p. 6.) That is not true, and it is certainly not true as a matter of law.
- f. “The invasion of privacy that would result from the release of claimants’ personal identifying information also would be unreasonable.” (R. p. 6.) That is not true, and it is certainly not true as a matter of law.
- g. The court apparently found as facts six alleged unfortunate reported incidents of crime against lottery winners. (R. pp. 6-7, 22.) Not only was it error to find these facts just because the Lottery Commission alleged them to be, no trial was had, so they could not be examined in an appropriate context even if they are true. How many lottery winners are there per year in, say, the United States? In South Carolina? Perhaps these six incidents represent tiny fractions of some very large numbers. They probably do represent a very small fraction of lottery winners. The circuit court prevented there from ever being a trial at which that might have been demonstrated.

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