THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 01 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-001112

South Carolina Lottery Commission,Respondent,

v.

George S. Glassmeyer,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BOWERS LAW OFFICE LLC
Karl S. Bowers, Jr.
SC Bar No. 16141
butch@butchbowers.com
P.O. Box 50549
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 753-1099

Attorney for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001112

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

ARGUMENT

The South Carolina Court of Appeals should hold, as a matter of law, that the public disclosure of lottery winners' personal identifying information – i.e. the (1) full names, (2) addresses, (3) telephone numbers, and (4) forms of identification of claimants – is exempted from FOIA. Therefore, this court should affirm the circuit court's order for declaratory relief and permanent injunction against Appellant.

SCLC recognizes the balance between its affirmative duty to disclose public information and its discretion to withhold exempted materials to protect the privacy and safety of lottery winners and their families. *Compare Bellamy v. Brown*, 305 S.C. 291, 295, 408 S.E.2d 219, 221 (1991), with S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-40(a)(2). In recognition of this balance and pursuant to case law, SCLC parsed through the information requested by Appellant and separated information that could be publicly disclosed from information that was exempt from disclosure under FOIA. *City of Columbia v. American Civil Liberties Union of S.C., Inc.*, 323 S.C. 384, 475 S.E.2d 747 (1996); *Newberry Publ'g Co. v. Newberry Cnty. Comm'n on Alcohol & Drug Abuse*, 308 S.C. 352, 417 S.E.2d 870 (1992). SCLC responded to Appellant's request and disclosed a portion of non-personal identifying information concerning past lottery winners that he requested, including (1) gross dollar amounts of all such claims; (2) the dates of all such claims; (3) the home town and state of residence for all such claimants; and (4) the game associated with the prize won. (Compl. Ex. B (SCLC Ltr. to Appellant)). However, the public disclosure of lottery winners' personal identifying information constitutes an unreasonable invasion of privacy and is therefore exempt under FOIA. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-40(a)(2). Thus, this court should affirm the lower court's judgment in favor of SCLC.

I. The Circuit Court Properly Made Its Factual Findings and Conclusions of Law

As a preliminary matter, Appellant begins his brief with a list of perceived errors with the circuit court's order, some of which are more thoroughly discussed in separate sections of his brief, as well as complaints of erroneous factual determinations. SCLC disagrees with Appellant, and the following brief demonstrates that most of Appellant's arguments here are without merit. However, Appellant presents two general arguments that are not expounded upon in the remainder of his brief and therefore need to be addressed prior to considering the remainder of Appellant's brief.

First, Appellant contends that multiple factual findings by the circuit court were erroneous. However, a trial court's factual findings should not be disturbed on appeal unless a review of the record discloses that there is no evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976); *Barnacle Broad., Inc. v. Baker Broad., Inc.*, 343 S.C. 140, 538 S.E.2d 672 (Ct. App. 2000); *see also Sloan*, 356 S.C. 531, 590 S.E.2d 338. In this case, the circuit court's findings are reasonably supported by the record. Further, Appellant's perceived improper factual findings are in reality nothing more than a disagreement he has with the circuit court over matters of degree. For example, Appellant admits that he submitted three FOIA requests to SCLC in this case, but he quibbles over the circuit court's determination that his submissions constitute "a long line" of such requests. (Appellant's Initial Br. 11.) Even if Appellant is correct and three FOIA requests is not "a long line" of requests, the circuit court's finding is harmless error, because it has no relevance or impact on the ultimate determination of the circuit court.

Second, Appellant asserts that the circuit court's conclusions of law were improper, inaccurate, and even not true as a matter of law. (Appellant's Initial Br. 11-13, 17.) The circuit

court's fundamental conclusion of law is that the public disclosure of lottery winners' personal identifying information constitutes an unreasonable invasion of personal privacy and therefore is exempted from disclosure under FOIA. (Nov. 17, 2015 Cir. Ct. Order, generally.) It is erroneous for Appellant to suggest that a ruling on the applicability of a FOIA exemption is not a matter of law. Numerous cases illustrate that the applicability of a FOIA exemption is a legal determination. *See, e.g., Burton v. York Sheriff's Dep't*, 358 S.C. 339, 594 S.E.2d 888 (S.C. App. 2004) ("A declaratory judgment action under the FOIA to determine whether certain information should be disclosed is an action at law.") (citing *S.C. Tax Comm'n v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp.*, 316 S.C. 163, 447 S.E.2d 843 (1994); *Campbell v. Marion Cnty. Hosp. Dist.*, 354 S.C. 274, 280, 580 S.E.2d 163, 165 (Ct. App. 2003)). Further, Appellant fails to provide substantive facts or law to demonstrate error in the circuit court's conclusions of law. Accordingly, both of Appellant's generalized allegations concerning the circuit court's factual findings and conclusion of law are without merit.

II. SCLC Has Standing In This Case

SCLC has standing to seek declaratory judgment and injunctive relief. First, Appellant claims that only South Carolina citizens may bring suit under FOIA. To support this claim, Appellant cites Subsection (a) of S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100, which states:

Any citizen of the State may apply to the circuit court for either or both a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief to enforce the provisions of this chapter in appropriate cases as long as such application is made no later than one year following the date on which the alleged violation occurs or one year after a public vote in public session, whichever comes later. The court may order equitable relief as it considers appropriate, and a violation of this chapter must be considered an irreparable injury for which no adequate remedy at law exists.

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100(a). However, Appellant has ignored the immediately following Subsection (b), which states:

If a person *or entity* seeking such relief prevails, he *or it* may be awarded reasonable attorney fees and other costs of litigation. If such person *or entity* prevails in part, the court may in its discretion award him *or it* reasonable attorney fees or an appropriate portion thereof.

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100(b) (emphasis added). Had the legislature intended for only “citizen[s] of the State” to seek declaratory judgment or injunctive relief under FOIA as outlined in Subsection (a), the legislature would not have incorporated the broader categorization of “a person or entity” without reference to the citizenship of either said person or entity in the immediately succeeding Subsection (b) of S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100. The plain meaning of S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100, in its entirety, demonstrates that the legislature intended to enable a non-citizen public entity, such as SCLC, to seek declaratory judgment or injunctive relief under FOIA.

Further, this statutory authority for SCLC’s standing is supported by case law as well, which Appellant himself has cited. In two previous reported opinions by the South Carolina Supreme Court, non-citizen public entities were plaintiffs in actions that sought declaratory judgment under FOIA and the South Carolina Supreme Court did not find standing to be at issue in either case. *City of Columbia v. American Civil Liberties Union of S.C., Inc.*, 323 S.C. 384, 475 S.E.2d 747 (1996); *S.C. Tax Comm’n v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp.*, 316 S.C. 163, 447 S.E.2d 843 (1994). The Supreme Court’s silence on this issue is deafening. As Appellant himself notes, it is fundamental that only a party with standing may maintain an action. (Appellant’s Initial Br. 20 (citing *Baird v. Charleston Cnty.*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999))). Thus, the Supreme Court could not have considered the merits of the case in either *City of Columbia* or *South Carolina Tax Commission* had it not implicitly found that both public entities had standing to maintain their declaratory judgment actions in the first instance. Thus, SCLC has standing based on both statutory authority and binding legal precedent.

Alternatively, Appellant claims SCLC lacks standing, because the only irreparable harm SCLC has alleged is based on third-party lottery winners and that such harm is not sufficient to establish that SCLC itself has suffered or is likely to suffer irreparable harm. However, persuasive precedent from another state court holds that the irreparable harm analysis does not necessarily focus on the entity in question, but on those third-party individuals who are the subject of the records request. For example, in denying a records request under Ohio's Public Record Law, the Ohio Supreme Court held that "a release of the requested information by the [state entity] in this matter places those who are the subject of the records request at risk of irreparable harm, albeit not necessarily by [the state entity itself]." *State ex rel. McCleary v. Roberts*, 88 Ohio St. 3d 365, 725 N.E.2d 1144 (2000) (citing *Kallstrom v. City of Columbus*, 136 F.3d 1055 (6th Cir. 1998)). This reasoning is also implicit in the *South Carolina Tax Commission* case previously discussed, as the irreparable harm from a public records disclosure was based on a third-party entity, rather than on the Tax Commission itself. *S.C. Tax Comm'n v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp.*, 316 S.C. 163, 447 S.E.2d 843 (1994).

Appellant suggests that the third-party lottery winners cannot establish that they have suffered or are likely to suffer irreparable harm either, because they "released the Lottery Commission from any liability in disclosing information about them in response to a FOIA request." (Appellant's Initial Br. 28.) However, this release of liability only states that the lottery winners' information "*may* be subject to disclosure" under FOIA (emphasis added). This language dilutes Appellant's argument, because it establishes that this release of liability is not a clear, absolute, or knowing waiver of public disclosure of private information. Further, the very fact that a judicial remedy to maintain anonymity exists for lottery winners (within a fifteen-day grace

period) illustrates that simply playing the South Carolina lottery is not an automatic waiver of public disclosure.

Ultimately, the irreparable harm to the third-party lottery winners in this case comes from the unreasonable invasion of privacy. The unreasonableness of Appellant's records request is demonstrated from a number of authorities: The right to privacy is the right to be left alone, or "the right to live without one's name, picture or statue, or that of a relative, made public against his will." *Holloman v. Life Ins. Co. of Va.*, 7 S.E.2d 169, 171, 192 S.C. 454, 458 (1940). Further, the South Carolina Constitution expressly recognizes the right to privacy. S.C. Const. art. I § 10. At a minimum, the state constitution therefore protects a claimant against invasions of privacy resulting from state action, including the release of personal information that would result in an unreasonable invasion of a claimant's personal privacy. A prominent example of the concern regarding improper public release of personal information is the public concern and outcry that arose following the breach of the South Carolina Department of Revenue's computer system and network, resulting in the suspected compromise of millions of taxpayers' personal identifying information and a civil lawsuit regarding the breach. *See Morgan v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 2012-CP-40-07331. Recognizing the potential for harmful use of this personal information that was wrongfully accessed, the State of South Carolina has contracted for credit monitoring for affected taxpayers for two years. Moreover, the courts have also taken steps to address this concern. The South Carolina Supreme Court recently issued an order requiring the redaction of personal identifying information from documents filed with an appellate court, including but not limited to social security numbers, taxpayer identification numbers, driver's license numbers, passport numbers, or other personal identifying numbers; names of minor children; financial account numbers; home address of minors, sexual assault and abuse and neglect victims; non-parties; and

date of birth. *In re Revised Order Concerning Pers. Identifying Info. & Other Sensitive Info. in Appellate Court Filings*, 2013-002681, 2014 WL 1464413 (S.C. Apr. 15, 2014). The federal courts likewise recognize a similar need for privacy in court filings, generally requiring the redaction of personal identifying information. Fed. R. Civ. P. 5.2. Further, the United States Supreme Court has held that “as a *categorical matter* . . . a third party’s request for law enforcement records or *information about a private citizen* can reasonably be expected to invade that citizen’s privacy” *United States Dep’t of Justice v. Reporters Comm. for Freedom of the Press*, 489 U.S. 749 (1989) (emphasis added). Lastly, a lower South Carolina court has held that a release of a lottery winner’s personal identifying information constitutes an unreasonable invasion of personal privacy within the meaning of S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-40(a)(2). *John Doe v. S.C. Lottery Comm’n*, 2014-CP-40-2446. Thus, the irreparable harm to the third-party lottery winners, who are the subjects of the Appellant’s record request, is sufficient to establish SCLC’s standing.

III. The Circuit Court’s Injunction Is Not Overly Broad

The circuit court’s injunction is not broader in scope than what is necessary to stop the harm it is designed to prevent. *See Goldberg v. Trakas*, 206 F.Supp. 867 (E.D.S.C. 1962). Appellant argues the scope of the injunction is too broad for three reasons, none of which are meritorious. First, Appellant offers a hypothetical: he asserts that the injunction is overly broad, because it prevents him from unwillingly receiving the personally identifying information from a lottery winner, who could hypothetically contact him in order to freely divulge his or her personal identifying information. (Appellant’s Initial Br. 30.) SCLC disagrees with the assumption that this hypothetical passive activity violates the injunction. The circuit court’s injunction reads as follows: “IT IS ORDERED that [Appellant] is PERMANENTLY restrained and enjoined from *seeking to obtain* the (1) full names; (2) addresses; (3) telephone numbers; and (4) forms of

identification of all lottery winners and claimants.” (Nov. 17, 2015 Cir. Ct. Order 12 (emphasis added)). Thus, the injunction only prohibits Appellant from “seeking” to obtain the information. Even if a lottery winner hypothetically desired to divulge his or her personal identifying information to Appellant, the Appellant’s passive action in listening to or receiving this information would not be considered actively “seeking” this information, which is expressly barred by the injunction. Thus, the injunction is not overly broad to prevent Appellant from receiving this information freely from a lottery winner. It merely prevents Appellant from seeking the disclosure of lottery winners’ personal identifying information from SCLC.

Second, Appellant argues that the injunction is overly broad because of its permanent nature, because he can never seek this information, “under any circumstances, for the rest of his days.” (Appellant’s Initial Br. 30.) This argument is both illogical and incorrect. First, if a permanent injunction is overly broad based only on the fact that it is permanent, then no permanent injunction could ever be issued. Such an outcome would be illogical, because it would frustrate the purpose of Rule 57 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and the South Carolina Declaratory Judgment Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-53-10 *et seq.*, both of which were enacted by the legislature in order to provide permanent injunctions as a form of judicial relief. Second, Appellant’s assertion is incorrect on its face, because he is allowed to seek this information if a court modifies or vacates the permanent injunction in the future due to changed circumstances. For example, Rule 60(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure allows a party to seek relief from judgment if a court finds “it is no longer equitable that the judgment [such as a permanent injunction] should have prospective application.” Thus, the circuit court’s permanent injunction is not overly broad based on its permanent nature.

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